THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

**RECEIVED**

OCT 12 2018

Appellate Case No: 2018-001262

SC Court of Appeals

Dorchester County Taxpayers Association, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, Weatherstone Property Owners Association, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, George Resnick, William A. Harbeson, James Stephen Greene, Jr., Homer P. Gonzalez, Gerald E. Ziegler and South Carolina Public Interest Foundation, .....Appellants,

v.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING THE APPELLANTS' COMPLAINT CHALLENGING THE USE OF OWNER-OCCUPIED TAX REVENUES FOR STUDENT RESOURCE OFFICERS IN VIOLATION OF ACT 388 WHEN THE COMPLAINT DID NOT SEEK A REFUND OR CHALLENGE TAX ASSESSMENT OR COLLECTION BUT RATHER LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACTION USING PUBLIC FUNDS?
  
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING THE APPELLANTS' COMPLAINT AGAINST DORCHESTER DISTRICT 4 CHALLENGING THE USE OF OWNER-OCCUPIED TAX REVENUES FOR STUDENT RESOURCE OFFICERS IN VIOLATION OF ACT 388 WHEN IT PARTICIPATED IN THE PAYMENT OF THOSE OFFICERS IN VIOLATION OF THE STATE STATUTE AND COULD BE AFFECTED BY A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OR AN INJUNCTION ISSUED IN THIS CASE?
  
- III. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN DISMISSING THE SECTION 1983 CLAIMS OF APPELLANT MESSINGER WHEN THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THAT TOWN AND COUNTY OFFICIALS CONSPIRED AND ACTED TO DEPRIVE MESSINGER OF HIS FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS UNDER THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION THROUGH A PATTERN OF HARASSMENT AND INTIMIDATION AND INTERFERENCE WITH HIS EMPLOYMENT?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On May 2, 2016, the plaintiffs, now Appellants, filed this action for a declaratory judgment and injunctive relief and amended its original complaint on May 6, 2018. After responses by the defendants, the plaintiffs filed their Second Amended Complaint on December 12, 2016. In response, the parties representing the County and Town government defendants filed a motion to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint. The parties representing the Dorchester District 4 school district and school board filed a separate motion to dismiss, and the remaining defendants filed responsive pleadings but did not move to dismiss.

A hearing on the two pending motions to dismiss was held on December 12, 2017. After briefing and argument the Circuit Court issued two orders on March 15, 2018 dismissing the case in its entirety as to the County, Town and District 4 defendants. On March 20, 2018, Appellants received written notice of entry of the two orders filed on March 15, 2018. On March 29, 2018, Appellants timely served and filed a motion to alter, amend or reconsider those orders. On June 13, 2018, Appellants received written notice of entry of the June 11, 2018 order denying their motion to alter or amend the March 15, 2018 orders.

On July 3, 2018, the appellants filed a notice of appeal of the two orders dated March 15, 2018 and the order of June 11, 2018 with the Circuit Court and the Court of Appeals and served copies on all counsel of record.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In deciding a motion to dismiss pursuant to 12(b)(6), SCRCP, the trial court should consider only the allegations set forth on the face of the plaintiff's complaint. *Plyler v. Burns*, 373 S.C. 637, 645, 647 S.E.2d 188, 192 (2007). The Court must deny a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6) if “facts alleged and inferences reasonably deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory of the case.” *Id.*; *Baird v. Charleston Cnty.*, 333 S.C. 519, 527, 511 S.E.2d 69, 73 (1999) (“The 12(b)(6) motion may not be sustained if the facts alleged and inferences therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief on any theory.”). “The question is whether, in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the complaint states any valid claim for relief.” *Id.* “Pleadings in a case should be

construed liberally so that substantial justice is done between the parties.” *Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC v. Gilland*, 390 S.C. 312, 321, 701 S.E.2d 39, 44 (Ct. App. 2010). Further, the complaint should not be dismissed merely because the court doubts the plaintiff will prevail in the action. *Plyler*, 373 S.C. at 645, 647 S.E.2d at 192.

Under Rule 12(b)(1), SCRCF, the movant challenges the power of the court over the subject matter. "The question of subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law for the court." *Capital City Ins. Co. v. BP Staff, Inc.*, 382 S.C. 92, 99, 674 S.E.2d 524, 528 (Ct. App. 2009), citing *Chew v. Newsome Chevrolet, Inc.*, 315 S.C. 102, 104, 431 S.E.2d 631 (Ct. App. 1993) (citing *Bargesser v. Coleman Co.*, 230 S.C. 562, 96 S.E.2d 825 (1957)). Subject matter jurisdiction is defined as "the power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong." *See Skinner v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp.*, 380 S.C. 91, 93-94, 668 S.E.2d 795, 796 (2008); *Ward v. State*, 343 S.C. 14, 17 n.5, 538 S.E.2d 245, 246 n.5 (2000).

## FACTS

The plaintiffs are individual residents and taxpayers of Dorchester County or Berkeley County, a neighborhood association and two nonprofit public advocacy organizations dedicated to transparent and efficient government in compliance with the laws and constitution of this state. Second Amended Complaint ¶¶ 5-18.

School Resource Officers (“SROs”) are sworn law enforcement officers assigned to one or more school districts in the state with their primary duty being to provide safety and security of students, staff and property within the school system. Second Amended Complaint ¶¶ 48-50. Their use in the schools is for school operating

purposes within the definition of S.C. Code Ann. § 12-39-220(b)(47)(a), (c) (“Act 388”) as they provide for security and order within the schools and school districts themselves, a task that would otherwise be filled by principals, teachers, coaches or other employees of the school district, and often develop safety policies and procedures as “an advisor and teacher.” Second Amended Complaint ¶¶ 50, 95.

The South Carolina General Assembly passed Act 388 to provide that “one hundred percent of the fair market value of owner-occupied residential property... is exempt from all property taxes imposed for school operating purposes but not including millage imposed for the repayment of general obligation debt”. In other words, Act 388 exempts owner-occupied residential property from all property taxes imposed for “school operating purposes” with the exception of the service of bond indebtedness. Second Amended Complaint ¶¶ 51-53.

In 2015, the General Assembly, through the South Carolina Oversight Committee, funded an “independent review of the efficiency” of Dorchester School District 2 (“DD2”) by Tidwell and Associates. In May 2015, Tidwell issued its report, divided into tiers of recommendation, with Tier 1 being those of “Greatest Impact: the district should implement these recommendations immediately to take maximum advantage of their opportunities.” One of those Tier 1 recommendations was for DD2 to directly employ its own district security officers or contract with a private security company to provide security in DD2 schools, rather than using deputies from the County Sheriff’s office. The Tidwell report found that such a change would save DD2 \$1,755,600 over 5 years. Second Amended Complaint ¶¶ 56-57.

DD2 attempted to implement this change but met with significant opposition from the Dorchester County Sheriff, and the elected leaders of Dorchester County and the Town of Summerville. Second Amended Complaint ¶ 58. In the course of the public debate over this issue, the Sheriff, a deputy sheriff and a Summerville Town Council member, all defendants, crossed the line between permissible free speech and impermissible intimidation and slander. Second Amended Complaint ¶¶ 59- 61. One individual citizen who supported this change in SRO staffing, David Messinger, is a plaintiff in this case, stating claims against the Sheriff, Deputy Sheriff and Town Council members for their unconstitutional actions taken with intent to harm him and squelch his advocacy of this measure.

In the end, the County, Town and Sheriff got their way and DD2, Dorchester District Four (“DD4”) and the Dorchester County Career and Technology Center (“DCCTC”) all entered into contracts providing that Dorchester County and the Town of Summerville would pay the salaries and other expenses of SROs in the school district, using County and Town taxes collected on primary residences. Second Amended Complaint ¶¶ 63-77.

As a result, the County through the Sheriff’s office provides SROs to the three school districts for an approximate amount of \$60,000 per officer per year for salaries, plus other expenses. Under these contracts, the school district is required to use taxes it has collected on 6% properties, including businesses, to subsidize the salaries and other expenses of SROs employed and supervised by the Sheriff. In addition, Dorchester County is required to use taxes it has collected on all property owners,

including owner-occupied homes, to subsidize the salaries and other DD2 school operating expenses for SROs working at schools within each school district. Second Amended Complaint ¶¶ 63-77. All funds paid by the County or the Town to any of the school districts for SROs have been paid with property taxes raised, among others, on owner-occupied homes in the County and/or the Town in violation of Act 388. Second Amended Complaint ¶ 76. The Plaintiffs who reside in Berkeley County are being taxed by the Town to provide SROs for DD2 and DD4 schools when no resident of Berkeley County attends any DD2 or DD4 school. Second Amended Complaint ¶ 90.

### **ARGUMENT**

This case challenges Dorchester County and the Town of Summerville's practice of funding the payment of Deputy Sheriffs to act as School Resource Officers out of the collection of taxes on primary residences in violation of Act 388, a state statute that forbids the expenditure of residential property taxes for school operating expenses. The trial court's order is grounded primarily on the exclusive jurisdiction of the Revenue Procedures Act ("RPA") over tax collection challenges. The order points out that the RPA provides a "straightforward procedure to determine... a dispute concerning property taxes," and that the RPA is "the sole and specific remedy for deciding tax disputes involving the illegal or wrongful collection of taxes...." See S. C. Code Sec. 12-60-80. ("There is no remedy other than those provided in this chapter in any case involving the illegal or wrongful collection of taxes or attempt to collect taxes.")

Appellants do not quarrel with that statement. The trial court must be reversed, though, because Appellants have stated claims for which relief can be granted. The case does not challenge the collection of taxes. Rather, it challenges the expenditure of public funds - the use of taxes - specifically a practice of paying deputy sheriffs to serve as School Resource Officers in a manner that explicitly violates a state statute. The only connection to the collection of taxes in this case is that public funds, raised by the collection of taxes, are being used to pay these deputies. Neither the manner nor the amount of taxes collected is being challenged in this case, nor is any Appellant seeking a refund of their taxes paid. They do seek to have the public officials cease spending and receiving the funds in violation of state law.

If the trial court's conclusions about the scope and breadth of the Revenue Procedures Act are correct, no challenge to a state or local government's action can be brought in Circuit Court, if that challenge involves the expenditure of public funds. That is not what the RPA says, what the exclusive remedy provision for deciding tax disputes is meant to provide, nor is it consistent with the precedents set by numerous decisions of our appellate courts.

**I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE APPELLANTS' COMPLAINT CHALLENGING THE USE OF OWNER-OCCUPIED TAX REVENUES FOR STUDENT RESOURCE OFFICERS IN VIOLATION OF ACT 388 WHEN THE COMPLAINT DID NOT SEEK A REFUND OR CHALLENGE TAX ASSESSMENT OR COLLECTION BUT RATHER LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACTION USING PUBLIC FUNDS.**

Numerous court decisions have established the right of taxpayers to ask Circuit Courts to halt illegal expenditures by South Carolina government entities, starting over a hundred years ago with the South Carolina Supreme Court decision in *Mauldin vs. City Council of Greenville*, 33 S.C. 1, 11 S.E. 434 (1890). As stated by the South Carolina Court of Appeals in *Sloan v. School District of Greenville County*, 342 S.C. 515, 523, 537 S.E.2d 299, 303 (Ct. App. 2000) (emphasis added):

In this case, the public interest involved is the prevention of the unlawful expenditure of money raised by taxation. Public policy demands a system of checks and balances whereby taxpayers can hold public officials accountable for their acts . . . . Taxpayers must have some mechanism of enforcing the law.

*Id.* (citation omitted).

South Carolina circuit courts are vested with original jurisdiction in civil and criminal cases, except those cases in which exclusive jurisdiction shall be given to inferior courts, and shall have such appellate jurisdiction as provided by law. *Rainey v. Haley*, 404 S.C. 320, 323, 745 S.E.2d 81, 83 (2013), citing S.C. Const. art. V, § 11. "In determining whether the Legislature has given another entity exclusive jurisdiction over a case, a court must look to the relevant statute." *Id.*, citing *Dema v. Tenet Physician Servs.-Hilton Head, Inc.*, 383 S.C. 115, 121, 678 S.E.2d 430, 433 (2009).

The trial court found that it does not have jurisdiction over this matter because it is a case "involving the illegal or wrongful collection of taxes" and the Administrative Law Court, under the RPA, has exclusive jurisdiction over those

matters. If this were a case challenging the wrongful assessment or collection of taxes, that would be true, but this case is not.

Looking for guidance to the relevant statute, “the legislative intent of the RPA is to provide the people of this State with a straightforward procedure to determine a dispute with the Department of Revenue and a dispute concerning property taxes. The South Carolina Revenue Procedures Act must be interpreted and construed in accordance with, and in furtherance of, that intent.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-20. The entire statute is concerned with a taxpayer’s ability to challenge what that taxpayer contends is the wrongful collection of taxes. “Except as provided in subsection (B), there is no remedy other than those provided in this chapter in any case involving the illegal or wrongful collection of taxes, or attempt to collect taxes.” S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-80.

The process to which the trial court concluded it must cede jurisdiction and dismiss this action is described as follows:

For the purposes of this section, the administrative tax process includes matters connected with presentation to a state or local tax authority, or their officials or employees, relating to a client’s rights, privileges, or liabilities pursuant to laws, regulations, or rules administered by state or local tax authorities. These presentations include the preparation and filing of necessary documents, correspondence with, and communications to, state and local tax authorities, and the representation of a client at conferences and meetings, including conferences with the county boards of assessment appeals. It does not include contested case hearings held by the Administrative Law Court or the courts.

S.C. Code Ann. § 12-60-90.

By its plain and unambiguous allegations, this Second Amended Complaint challenges the payment<sup>1</sup> of money for the funding of SROs for the school districts, using property taxes on owner-occupied homes. That these are public funds, collected by the local government through property taxation, does not make this a tax appeal.

The only references to the Plaintiffs as taxpayers in the Second Amended Complaint are allegations meant to establish their standing to bring this action. The Second Amended Complaint does not seek to reduce or challenge the amount of taxes that the Plaintiffs are collecting or seek refunds to any of the Plaintiffs. Rather, the Second Amended Complaint only seeks cessation of illegal expenditures of public funds by the County and the Town in the ordinary courses of their business, in accordance with their budgets approved by County and Town Councils by ordinance.

Decisions of the Supreme Court and Court of Appeals support this conclusion. For example, *Brackenbrook North Charleston LP v. County of Charleston*, 360 S.C. 390, 602 S.E.2d 39 (S.C. 2004) involved a challenge to the validity of the amount of taxes collected by Charleston County using a certain millage calculation rate and sought a tax refund after payment of the taxes sought to be refunded. However, unlike in *Brackenbrook*, Plaintiffs in this case absolutely do not challenge the validity of the amount or nature of the taxes collected from them and do not seek a refund but, instead, object as unlawful the manner in which those collected tax monies have been spent and will be spent after they are

---

<sup>1</sup> Second Amended Complaint ¶¶ 2,16,80,81,88,89,90,91,98,100,101,103,104, and at pp. 39-40.

collected. *Id.* Second Amended Complaint; *supra* at 9. Therefore, the ruling requiring the exhaustion of administrative remedies in *Brackenbrook* is not precedent for requiring compliance with the RPA regarding Plaintiffs' challenges to the legality of tax expenditures by the Defendants.

Similarly, *B&A Development, Inc. v. Georgetown County*, 372 S.C. 261, 641 S.E.2d 888 (2007) involved a challenge to the legality of a county's millage rate resulting in the alleged excessive collection of taxes and requests for a refund. Unlike in *B&A Development, Inc.*, Plaintiffs in this case do not challenge the validity of the amount or nature of the taxes collected from them and do not seek a refund; therefore, the ruling requiring the exhaustion of administrative remedies in *B&A Development, Inc.* is not precedent for requiring compliance with the RPA regarding Plaintiffs' challenges to the legality of tax expenditures by the Defendants.

Similarly, *Riverwoods, LLC v. Charleston Cnty.*, 349 S.C. 378, 563 S.E.2d 651, 657 (2002) involved a challenge to the collection of taxes and request for a refund. Unlike in *Riverwoods, LLC*, Plaintiffs in this case absolutely do not challenge the validity of the amount or nature of the taxes collected from them and do not seek a refund but, instead, object as unlawful the manner in which those collected tax monies have been spent and will be spent after they are collected. *Id.*; Second Amended Complaint, *supra* at 9. Therefore, the ruling requiring the exhaustion of administrative remedies in *Riverwoods, LLC* is not

precedent for requiring compliance with the RPA regarding Plaintiffs' challenges to the legality of tax expenditures by the Defendants.

As such, this court does have jurisdiction over this challenge to actions by local governments that the Plaintiffs, as taxpayers, assert are illegal and therefore *ultra vires*. The RPA does not apply to this dispute. Plaintiffs' First and Second Causes of Action are not subject to dismissal.

**II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE APPELLANTS' COMPLAINT AGAINST DORCHESTER DISTRICT 4 CHALLENGING THE USE OF OWNER-OCCUPIED TAX REVENUES FOR STUDENT RESOURCE OFFICERS IN VIOLATION OF ACT 388 WHEN IT PARTICIPATED IN THE PAYMENT OF THOSE OFFICERS IN VIOLATION OF THE STATE STATUTE AND COULD BE AFFECTED BY A DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OR AN INJUNCTION ISSUED IN THIS CASE.**

The trial court erred in dismissing the causes of action against the Dorchester District 4 defendants on the basis that the school district is not a taxing entity. That point is irrelevant to the causes of action stated in the complaint. The Dorchester District 4 defendants are proper defendants to this declaratory judgment action because they participated in the practice of paying School Resource Officers with owner-occupied residential property taxes in violation of state statute. The declaration of violations of the statute would affect and involve them as a participant, as much as it would the County or the Town. Further, if the courts determine that the practice violates state law as the complaint alleges, the injunction requested by the complaint would necessarily cover the school district as much as the relevant local governmental authority, whether the Town or the County. As a result, it was error

to dismiss the school district defendants and this Court should reverse the trial court and remand this matter for further proceedings against the school district.

**III. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE SECTION 1983 CLAIMS OF APPELLANT MESSINGER WHEN THE COMPLAINT ALLEGED THAT TOWN AND COUNTY OFFICIALS CONSPIRED AND ACTED TO DEPRIVE MESSINGER OF HIS FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS UNDER THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION THROUGH A PATTERN OF HARASSMENT AND INTIMIDATION AND INTERFERENCE WITH HIS EMPLOYMENT.**

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