THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001262
Case No. 2016-CP-18-0838

RECEIVED
APR 03 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Dorchester County Taxpayers Association, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated; Weatherstone Property Owners Association, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, George Resnick; William A. Harbeson; James Stephen Greene, Jr.; Homer P. Gonzalez; Gerald E. Ziegler; David Messinger; and South Carolina Public Interest Foundation, Appellants,

v.

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

II. This Court should affirm the circuit court’s dismissal of Messinger’s fourth and fifth causes of action.

A. Standard of Review

The Appellants correctly summarize much of the law on reviewing orders that grant a motion to dismiss for failure to state a cause of action under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC. It is important to add, however, that legal conclusions are not accepted as true. *Charleston Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Laidlaw Transit, Inc.*, 599 S.E.2d 362, 364-365 (S.C. App. 2001). Questions of law are always for the court under a *de novo* standard of review. Moreover, there are no “factual” questions at issue here. The circuit court did not resolve any factual issues – the court accepted the alleged facts as true but dismissed the claims based on questions of law.

¹² The Plaintiffs fear that the circuit court will be deprived of jurisdiction over all cases challenging governmental action, “if that challenge involves the expenditure of public funds.” (Init. App. Br. 7). This is a false fear. The ALC has jurisdiction in this case, because the alleged illegal collection of taxes is the only legal basis for the claims made in the first and second cause of action. This does not affect the circuit court’s jurisdiction over cases that involve illegal spending claims, provided there is an independent legal duty and breach of duty beyond any alleged illegal or wrongful collection of taxes. Here, however, the Plaintiffs have not and cannot allege an “illegal spending” claim based on anything other than illegal tax collection. They have tried but failed to do so in a total of three complaints, including the second amended complaint at issue on appeal. Their claims therefore reside in the exclusive jurisdiction of the ALC.

B. Background Facts & Summary of Argument

David Messinger is the only plaintiff for the fourth and fifth causes of action, and he asserts these claims against respondents McIntosh, Chinnis, Phinney, Dorchester County, Town of Summerville, and Dorchester County Sheriff. (R. 138-140, ¶¶ 108-113). The circuit court dismissed the fourth and fifth causes of action on multiple grounds. (R. 19-22).

The fourth cause of action is based solely on alleged violations of Messinger's rights under the state constitution. It does not allege any violation of any federal right. (R. 138-139, ¶¶ 108-110). Because the fourth cause of action is state law only, the circuit court dismissed it upon the following separate and independent grounds:

1. The fourth cause of action does not and cannot state a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, because it seeks monetary damages for alleged violations of Messinger's rights under the state constitution, and such claims cannot be made under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
2. As to all defendants, Messinger's claims are barred by legislative immunity as retained in the South Carolina Tort Claims Act.
3. As to defendants Chinnis and McIntosh, they are members of County and Town Council, respectively, and they are immune from liability for Messinger's claims under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act.

(R. 20-21).

The fifth cause of action is based solely on alleged violations of Messinger's rights under the federal constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. (R. 139-140, ¶¶ 111-113). The circuit court dismissed it as to all defendants, because it "claimed injuries to reputation arising out of allegedly 'false and defamatory statements,' which is not cognizable in an action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983."

On appeal, Messinger ignores the fourth cause of action and focuses on the fifth cause of action, *i.e.*, his “1983” claims for alleged violations of his federal constitutional rights, claims made only in the fifth cause of action. (Init. App. Br. at 13-29). As shown below, the circuit court’s dismissal of the fourth and fifth cause of action is the law of this case and requires affirmance, because Messinger has failed to challenge the circuit court’s rulings. Moreover, assuming Messinger has challenged the circuit court’s rulings, his appellate arguments are not preserved for appeal. And in any event, the circuit court correctly dismissed the fourth and fifth cause of action.

C. This Court should affirm the circuit court’s dismissal of the fourth cause of action as to all defendants.

The circuit court correctly ruled that Messinger’s fourth cause of action asserted state law claims only, and pure state law claims are not cognizable under § 1983. The circuit court also correctly ruled that all defendants were immune from liability based on legislative immunity granted by state law. These rulings are the unchallenged law of this case and therefore require affirmance.

1. The circuit court correctly ruled that § 1983 does not apply to state law claims, and this ruling is the law of this case.

The circuit court ruled that the fourth cause of action stated only a state law claim, and state law claims are not cognizable under § 1983. (R. 20). This ruling was correct. “The purpose of § 1983 is to deter state actors from using the badge of their authority to deprive individuals of their *federally guaranteed rights* and to provide relief to victims if such deterrence fails.” *Wyatt v. Cole*, 504 U.S. 158, 161 (1992) (emphasis added). Section 1983 “creates no substantive rights; it provides only a procedure for redress for the deprivation of rights established elsewhere.” *Sykes v. James*, 13 F.3d 515, 519 (2d Cir.

1993). To state a claim under § 1983, a plaintiff must allege two elements: (1) a right secured by the Constitution or laws of the United States was violated, and (2) the alleged violation was committed by a person acting under color of state law. *West v. Atkins*, 487 U.S. 42, 48 (1988); *Long v. Cty. of Los Angeles*, 442 F.3d 1178, 1185 (9th Cir. 2006). Here, the fourth cause of action does not allege any violation of any federal right and, therefore, it does not and cannot state a claim enforceable under § 1983.¹³

Messinger argues that the circuit court erred in finding that he “did not state a cause of action for a § 1983 cause of action for violation of his rights . . . in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution” and “his rights under the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment[] of the United States Constitution.” (Init. App. Br. at 17, 22; see also *id.* at 17-22 and 22-24). The circuit court never made these rulings – the circuit court ruled only that the state law claims made in the fourth cause of action could not be a § 1983 action. Messinger never challenges this ruling and, therefore, it is the law of this case. *Buckner*, 177 S.E.2d at 544.¹⁴

¹³ 42 U.S.C. § 1983 provides in full: “Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the District of Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper proceeding for redress, except that in any action brought against a judicial officer for an act or omission taken in such officer's judicial capacity, injunctive relief shall not be granted unless a declaratory decree was violated or declaratory relief was unavailable. For the purposes of this section, any Act of Congress applicable exclusively to the District of Columbia shall be considered to be a statute of the District of Columbia.”

¹⁴ In the last sentence of his arguments on stating a cause of action under § 1983, Messinger argues that the facts alleged in his complaint show “violations of the First and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, as well as of Article I, Section 2 of the *South Carolina Constitution*.” (Init. App. Br. 24) (emphasis added). This is the only reference to any state law claim being made under § 1983, and it fails to support reversal of the circuit court for three reasons. First, it is a conclusory statement asserted in part of a sentence without discussion, argument, or supporting citations and, therefore, it is an abandonment of the issue on appeal. *Hotel & Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enters., LLC*, 780 S.E.2d 263, 275 (S.C. App. 2015) (one-sentence argument is an abandonment of the issue on appeal). Second, it does not discuss or challenge the circuit court's actual ruling. Third, as shown earlier, the circuit court was correct – a § 1983 action does not lie for a pure state law claim like the fourth cause of action. See Arg. I(B), *supra*.

2. The circuit court correctly ruled that all defendants were immune from Messinger's state law claims under legislative immunity, and this ruling is the law of this case.

The circuit court dismissed the fourth cause of action against all defendants on the ground that legislative immunity under state law protected all defendants from any state law claim. (R. 21). On appeal, Messinger argues that legislative immunity does not protect the defendants from a § 1983 action for violation his federal constitutional rights. (Init. App. Br. 26-29). Again, the circuit court never made this ruling – the court ruled only that legislative immunity under state law protected the defendants from state law claims, which are the only claims made in the fourth cause of action. Messinger never challenges the circuit court's actual ruling and, therefore, "right or wrong, [it] is the law of this case and requires affirmance." *Buckner*, 177 S.E.2d at 544.

- D. **The circuit court correctly dismissed the fourth cause of action against defendant McIntosh based on the immunity provided by the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, and Messinger's appellate argument is not preserved for appeal.**

This question is moot if this Court affirms the dismissal of the fourth cause of action as to all defendants upon the grounds set forth in Argument II(C), *supra*. *Buckner*, 177 S.E.2d at 544 (when the trial court rules upon more than one independent ground, the appellate court must affirm the appealed order if any of the separate independent grounds are affirmed – any presumed error in any other ground becomes moot).

As an independent and alternative ground, the circuit court dismissed the fourth cause of action against defendants Chinnis and McIntosh, because they are members of County and Town Council and therefore immune from liability for Messinger's claims under the South Carolina Tort Claims Act. (R. 20). On appeal, Messinger argues there is a question of fact on whether the defendants lost any immunity by acting outside the scope

of their official duties or acted with actual malice and with intent to harm. (Init. App. Br. 29)-30).¹⁵

Messinger's appellate argument is not preserved for appeal. He made this "outside scope" argument in opposition to the motion to dismiss. (R. 465). The circuit court, however, did not mention or rule upon his argument in dismissing the fourth cause of action. (R. 20). It was therefore incumbent upon Messinger to seek an explicit ruling with a 59(e) motion. A general ruling against a party is not sufficient to preserve that party's specific objection, and a 59(e) motion must seek an explicit ruling on the specific objection. *USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 661 S.E.2d 791, 795 (S.C. 2008), citing *Floyd v. Floyd*, 615 S.E.2d 465, 474 (S.C. App. 2005). Messinger made a 59(e) motion, but he did not raise his "outside scope" argument. (R. 429-430). He argued only that the Tort Claims Act did not apply, because he was not suing in tort, and he was seeking only declaratory and injunctive relief, which is not barred by the Tort Claims Act. (Id.). Messinger does not pursue this argument on appeal, thereby abandoning it. *South Carolina Dep't of Transp. v. M & T Enters. of Mt. Pleasant, LLC*, 667 S.E.2d 7, 15 (S.C. App. 2008) (arguments made to trial court but not on appeal are abandoned).

¹⁵ Section 15-78-20(b) provides in full: "The General Assembly in this chapter intends to grant the State, its political subdivisions, and employees, while acting within the scope of official duty, immunity from liability and suit for any tort except as waived by this chapter. The General Assembly additionally intends to provide for liability on the part of the State, its political subdivisions, and employees, while acting within the scope of official duty, only to the extent provided herein. All other immunities applicable to a governmental entity, its employees, and agents are expressly preserved. The remedy provided by this chapter is the exclusive civil remedy available for any tort committed by a governmental entity, its employees, or its agents except as provided in Section 15-78-70(b)."

Section 15-78-70(b) provides in full: "Nothing in this chapter may be construed to give an employee of a governmental entity immunity from suit and liability if it is proved that the employee's conduct was not within the scope of his official duties or that it constituted actual fraud, actual malice, intent to harm, or a crime involving moral turpitude."

E. This Court should affirm the circuit court's dismissal of the fifth cause of action as to all defendants.

The circuit court dismissed the fifth cause of action as to all defendants, because it "claimed injuries to reputation arising out of allegedly 'false and defamatory statements,' which is not cognizable in an action under 42 U.S.C. § 1983." (R. 21). Messinger does not challenge this ruling on its merits. (Init. App. Br., *passim*). Therefore, it is the law of this case that no defendant can be held liable for false or defamatory statements.

F. This Court should affirm the circuit court's dismissal of the fifth cause of action against Town of Summerville.

The fifth cause of action is a "1983 action" for alleged violations of Messinger's federal constitutional rights. The dismissal of this claim against Town should be affirmed for numerous reasons.

First, there is no factual allegation that Town did anything that deprived Messinger of any federal right. (R. 102-144, *passim*). Thus, the fifth cause of action manifestly fails to state any claim against Town. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the dismissal of the fifth cause of action against Town on this additional sustaining ground.

Second, while there are factual allegations against McIntosh, there are no factual allegations that McIntosh's alleged actions were undertaken at the direction of or for the benefit of Town or Town Council. (R. 102-144, *passim*). Therefore, the fifth cause of action manifestly fails to state any claim against Town. Thus, this Court should affirm the dismissal of the fifth cause of action against Town on this additional sustaining ground.

Third, there are no factual allegations that would make Town vicariously liable for the actions of McIntosh. (R. 102-144, *passim*). For example, there are no allegations that McIntosh had any authority to act on behalf of Town in undertaking the actions alleged by

Messinger. (*Id.*) Moreover, as a matter of law, there is no respondeat superior liability under § 1983 for municipalities. *Monell v. Dep't of Soc. Servs. of City of New York*, 436 U.S. 658, 691 (1978); *accord, e.g., Todd v. Smith*, 407 S.E.2d 644, 646 (S.C. 1991). Thus, the fifth cause of action manifestly fails to state any claim against Town. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the dismissal of the fifth cause of action against Town on this additional sustaining ground.

Fourth, it is axiomatic that municipal liability exists only if there is a municipal “policy” or “custom” that caused the plaintiff’s injury. *E.g., Board of Cty. Comm'rs of Bryan Cty., Okl. v. Brown*, 520 U.S. 397, 403 (1997). Here, there is no allegation of any Town “policy” or any Town “custom” that deprived Messinger of any federal right, nor is there any allegation of any action by Town that did so. (R. 102-144, *passim*). Thus, the fifth cause of action manifestly fails to state any claim against Town. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the dismissal of the fifth cause of action against Town on this additional sustaining ground.

G. This Court should affirm the circuit court’s dismissal of the fifth cause of action against McIntosh.

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